RECEIVED

Jan 07 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-42-00740
Appellate Case No. 2025-000682

Gibbs International, Inc.,Petitioner,

v.

Sarmad Harake, Eurosa, Inc., and Katherine Harake, Defendants

Of whom Sarmad Harake and Eurosa, Inc. are the Respondents.

**PETITIONER GIBBS INTERNATIONAL, INC.’S
BRIEF**

Kevin A. Dunlap
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
110 East Court Street, Suite 200
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
Telephone: (864) 253-6105

Robert Osborne
Parker Poe Adams & Bernstein LLP
850 Morrison Yards

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with, and misapplies, existing precedent by reversing the circuit court's dismissal of a counterclaim that the Harake Appellants admitted has never been recognized in South Carolina.
2. Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with, and misapplies, existing precedent by re-drafting and interpreting the counterclaim to be for "intentional interference with contract" when the claim was expressly described as being for "tortious interference with economic interest" and it is undisputed that the claim nowhere alleges the required element of the intentional procurement of the breach of an existing contract.
3. Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with, and misapplies, existing precedent because when "solely" looking at the allegations "on the face" of the pleading and reasonable inferences based "solely" on those allegations, necessary allegations are indisputably absent and the only way to save the claim was by an improper and unjustified amendment.
4. Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion eviscerates different legal elements and distinctions required to be proven for different claims under decades of existing precedent and inappropriately allows for one alleged economic tort to be recharacterized as another.
5. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in refusing to affirm the circuit court's denial of the Harake Appellants' motion to amend their pleadings because the proposed amendment would result in undue delay and extreme prejudice to Petitioner caused by the inclusion of a brand new, completely unrelated claim when the case was to be ready for trial.
6. Whether the *Skydive* decision allowing for amendments under certain conditions overrules the *Holland* decision prohibiting amendments causing undue delay and prejudice.
7. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in refusing to address the merits of the argument that the Harake Appellants' requested amendment is futile.
8. Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion misapprehends and overlooks that the dismissal/striking of the counterclaim was independently appropriate due to the violation of a mandatory discovery obligation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 7, 2017, Gibbs International, Inc. (“Gibbs”) initiated the underlying matter by filing its original complaint against Sarmad Harake (“Harake”); Eurosa, Inc. (“Eurosa”); and Katherine Harake (“K. Harake”) (Harake and Eurosa collectively are the “Harake Appellants”) and asserting claims regarding issues arising out of the business relationship between Gibbs and the Harake Appellants.¹ In the pleadings, Gibbs alleged that it entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”) with the Harake Appellants whereby the Harake Appellants agreed, among other things, to identify and evaluate viable investment opportunities, make and manage investments, make capital contributions, and invest funds to support the work under the Agreement. (App’x pp. 233–248). However, the Harake Appellants breached the Agreement by, among other things, misappropriating money, failing to locate sufficient investment opportunities, failing to provide or locate additional capital, failing to properly manage the investments, and failing to manage Gibbs’ money. (App’x pp. 234–242).

After filing the original complaint, Gibbs amended the complaint twice, with the Second Amended Complaint being filed on June 9, 2017. (App’x p. 249). Harake, Eurosa, and K. Harake answered the Second Amended Complaint. (App’x p. 287). Harake and Eurosa asserted counterclaims against Gibbs. (App’x p. 287). Thereafter, the parties engaged in extensive discovery.

In the course of discovery, Gibbs produced over 200,000 pages of records and the Harake Appellants produced over 30,000 pages. (App’x p. 676). The parties took sixteen (16) depositions, including evidentiary depositions of witnesses in Moscow, Mexico, California, and other locations. Included in that discovery was Gibbs’ July 25, 2019 deposition of Harake. During his deposition,

¹ Katherine Harake was voluntarily dismissed from the litigation but brought back in as part of the third amended complaint. She is not a party to this appeal.

Harake testified that Gibbs refused to become financially involved with Paysend UK, an entity located in the United Kingdom that is not mentioned in Harake’s original Answer and Counterclaim. (App’x pp. 287–316). He stated that other investors did not want Harake involved in Paysend UK while he was in a dispute with Gibbs. (App’x p. 649; 290:10–24). While agreeing to produce documentation regarding a loan, Harake stated, “Actually it will be part of . . . the next phase, because there’s a big damage that you caused me.” (App’x pp. 649–652; 290:10–293:23). When asked for the amount of his damages, Harake’s counsel objected and instructed him not to answer the question on the ground that it related to information protected by the attorney work-product doctrine. (*Id.*).

As a result of information obtained in the course of discovery, Gibbs filed a Third Amended Complaint. (App’x pp. 454–485). On August 24, 2020, the Harake Appellants filed their Answer to the Third Amended Complaint and Amended Counterclaims asserting—for the first time—a new counterclaim for “tortious interference with economic interest.” (App’x pp. 518–520, ¶¶ 191–204). This counterclaim was asserted three (3) years and five (5) months after the litigation was filed. At the time it was asserted (August 24, 2020), the governing scheduling order provided that discovery was to be complete by December 7, 2020. Expert identification was to be completed by January 2020 for Gibbs and February 2020 for the Harake Appellants, both of which had already passed. (App’x p. 227). Moreover, the scheduling order stated that the case was to be ready for trial on or before January 4, 2021. (App’x pp. 190–191).

The Harake Appellants’ counterclaim for “tortious interference with economic interest” (the “Fourth Counterclaim”) alleged that Gibbs, Eurosa, and another investor in a United States entity known as Paysend Processing came to an agreement on the capital investments Paysend Processing needed. (App’x pp. 518–520). The Harake Appellants alleged that Gibbs agreed to invest \$1 million in Paysend Processing but, despite their purported agreement, Gibbs later refused

to invest more than \$250,000 in the company. (App'x p. 518). They also alleged that Gibbs knew Harake was the appointed director of Paysend UK and had acquired a 100% interest in it. (App'x p. 519). The Harake Appellants further alleged that Gibbs had a meeting with a potential investor that caused the investor to renege on his investment. (App'x p. 519). The Harake Appellants further contended that Gibbs refused to allow another investor to buy it out of Paysend Processing or to transfer its investment in Paysend Processing to Paysend UK, which would have rolled the two entities into one. (App'x p. 519). The Harake Appellants stated Gibbs' unjustified refusal forced Harake to purchase the other investor's shares in Paysend Processing and to divest his shares of Paysend UK, and if Gibbs had agreed to combine Paysend Processing and Paysend UK, Eurosa would have owned 6.5% of the combined businesses. (App'x p. 519). They also alleged Gibbs' refusal to allow the other investor to buy Gibbs out of Paysend Processing or to roll Paysend Processing into Paysend UK led to Harake's interest in Paysend UK being diluted because he was unable to participate in the later rounds of investments made by other Paysend UK investors. (App'x p. 520).

The Harake Appellants' Third Amended Answer and Amended Counterclaims do not use the words "intentional procurement of a breach of an existing contract," "intentional interference," or "intentional" anywhere in the entire thirty-six (36) pages of the pleading. (App'x pp. 486–521). The factual basis for the counterclaim was entirely new and presented facts not previously addressed in Harake Appellants' prior counterclaims. By way of example, Paysend UK's name was not used a single time in the Harake Appellants' prior pleadings. (App'x pp. 287–316).

Gibbs filed a Motion to Dismiss in response to the Harake Appellants' Answer to the Third Amended Complaint and Amended Counterclaims. (App'x p. 522). A hearing was held on September 22, 2020. (App'x p. 653). On September 25, 2020, the circuit court entered a Form 4

Order (the “September 25 Order”) directing the preparation of an order, among other things, dismissing the Harake Appellants’ Fourth Counterclaim. (App’x p. 187).

The Harake Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend on October 5, 2020. (App’x p. 622). The Motion to Alter or Amend included a request for leave to amend the Fourth Counterclaim pursuant to Rule 15, SCRCF. (App’x pp. 629–30). However, the Harake Appellants submitted no proposed pleading or restatement of any purported claim to the circuit court in support of its request for leave to file an amended pleading.

On November 18, 2020, the circuit court entered an order (the “November 18 Order”) dismissing the Harake Appellants’ counterclaim for “tortious interference with economic interest.” (App’x p. 190). The circuit court also rejected the verbal request made at the hearing for the Harake Appellants to be allowed to amend their pleadings. The circuit court also noted that it would address the amendment issue if raised by way of subsequent motion. (App’x pp. 207–208).

The November 18 Order also found that the dismissal/striking of the Fourth Counterclaim was appropriate pursuant to Rule 12(f), SCRCF, because of Harake’s refusal to answer certain deposition questions about his claim pursuant to an instruction not to answer by counsel. The circuit court concluded that because the Harake Appellants did not move for a protective order with regard to certain questions that related to what eventually became the Fourth Counterclaim, the counterclaim should be dismissed or stricken. (App’x pp. 208–209). Prior to the circuit court dismissing that counterclaim, Gibbs had given notice to the Harake Appellants that a protective order motion was necessary. Gibbs did so when it filed its motion to dismiss/strike, when it gave notice in open court during the hearing on September 22, 2020, and with the submission of the proposed order on this issue on November 2, 2020. (App’x pp. 208–209). The circuit court found that the Harake Appellants did not file a motion for a protective order within five business days of any of those events. (App’x pp. 208–209).

The hearing on Gibbs' Motion to dismiss/strike was held on September 22nd and the 29-page Order dismissing the claim was entered on November 18, 2020. The Harake Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the circuit court's order, which was denied on November 30, 2020. The Harake Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on December 17, 2020.

On November 13, 2024, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion reversing and remanding the circuit court's dismissal of the Harake Appellants' counterclaim for "tortious interference with economic interest." Gibbs filed its petition for a writ of certiorari on April 10, 2025. This Court granted Gibbs' petition on November 18, 2025.

INTRODUCTION TO ARGUMENTS

I. Overview of breaches of fiduciary duties and misappropriation of money and judicial re-drafting of a non-recognized claim.

This matter involves claims by Gibbs of shameful breaches of fiduciary duties and misappropriation of money, among other things, by the Harake Appellants, among others, resulting in millions of dollars of losses to Gibbs. The issue before the Court is whether the Court of Appeals erred in reversing the circuit court's order dismissing the Harake Appellants' counterclaim for "tortious interference with economic interest"—a claim that is not recognized under South Carolina law. Rather than simply affirming the dismissal of a cause of action that is not recognized under South Carolina law, the Court of Appeals re-drafted the Harake Appellants' cause of action to change it into a claim for intentional interference with existing contract. This blue-penciling conflicts with existing precedent by transforming the claim for "tortious interference with economic interest" into a purported claim for intentional interference with an existing contract.

If the Court of Appeals is permitted to re-draft the Harake Appellants' counterclaim, the result will be that a claimant can simply plead one of many unique and distinct business torts and then convert it at will to whatever other tort it chooses to suit the party's particular purpose at that moment. Such a result is plainly unfair to Gibbs, which is entitled to meaningful notice of the

claims asserted against it. The unfairness is exponentially unjustified when it takes place long after expert deadlines have passed and the case is to be ready for trial.

II. Evisceration of the distinction between business torts.

The Court of Appeals' opinion eviscerates the distinctions between individual business torts. The different claims are "individual" because they are unique and the legal elements are different. The opinion enables unbridled abuse of the pleading process knowing it does not matter how a claim is pled because it can be rescued in the end by judicial blue-penciling.

The error in redrafting the Harake Appellants' pleading was further compounded by the fact that the Court of Appeals decided that not only was the Harake Appellants' counterclaim one for intentional interference with contractual relations, but that the pleading supported such a claim. If the Court of Appeals is permitted to re-draft and craft its own interpretation of the Harake Appellants' counterclaim, then the Court of Appeals erred in refusing to affirm the dismissal of that claim because the pleading contains no allegation that Gibbs intentionally interfered with and procured the breach of an existing contract—a required, pivotal element of such a claim.

III. Indisputable prejudice arising from amendment by judicial blue-penciling.

The Court of Appeals also erred in refusing to address the merits of the circuit court's denial of the Harake Appellants' motion to amend their pleading. This Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of the Harake Appellants' motion to amend their pleading because to allow otherwise would run afoul of, and circumvent, decades of precedent prohibiting amendments that cause undue delay and prejudice—both of which undeniably exist in this case. *See Holland ex rel. Knox v. Morbark, Inc.*, 407 S.C. 227, 236, 754 S.E.2d 714, 719 (Ct. App. 2014) (stating that it is proper to deny a motion to amend a pleading that will result in prejudice and delay of the proceedings). This case also presents the opportunity for the Court to clarify *Skydive Myrtle Beach*

v. Horry County, 426 S.C. 175, 826 S.E.2d 585 (2019), and explain that it does not overrule *Holland* and that the rule prohibiting prejudicial amendments is alive and well.

IV. The Harake Appellants’ trampling of the scheduling order and extraordinary prejudice to Gibbs.

It is critical to note that the circuit court had issued a scheduling order that called for the disclosure of experts in January and February 2020, closed discovery in December 2020, and required the case to be ready for trial as of January 4, 2021. Despite the deadlines set forth in the scheduling order, the Harake Appellants asserted this new purported counterclaim—which interjected a brand-new allegation about an issue never previously raised in the pleadings and that would require additional international discovery and the retention and disclosure of new experts. Thus, this was no Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal of a claim at the outset of the litigation but, instead, the dismissal of an untimely counterclaim that was asserted entirely too late. The following are examples of the undue delay and extraordinary prejudice that will result if the counterclaim is allowed to proceed:

- Adding \$22 million in new damages on a claim completely unrelated to prior claims;
- Requiring written discovery on the new issues after the appeal including, but not limited to, the service of international subpoenas, a very time consuming process;
- Requiring new experts to be located and identified after Harake and his witnesses are deposed on this new claim;
- Requiring motions to compel (based on prior experience) to obtain needed documents; and
- Returning the parties to the “starting gate” when they were in the “final turn.”

These factors demonstrate prejudice and bar the Harake Appellants from pursuing the amended pleading at this stage of the case.

V. Futility: Independent ground justifying dismissal.

The Court of Appeals' opinion also overlooked the independent ground for dismissal that the claim is futile because, among other points raised in more detail below,

- Gibbs had no legal duty to agree to allow the other investor to buy Gibbs out or to agree for the shares to be rolled from one entity to another.
- The exercise of a legal right by a party to a contract does not provide a basis for a claim of intentional interference with contract even if the exercise of the legal right causes another not to perform under a contract.
- No claim for intentional interference with contract can exist for an alleged breach by a party to the contract.
- The filing of litigation is not a basis for pursuing a claim for intentional interference with contract.

As a result, any amendment should be denied based on futility independent of the undeniable prejudice that exists.

VI. Violation of mandatory discovery obligations.

The Court of Appeals also erred in finding the dismissal/striking of the Fourth Counterclaim was also inappropriate due to the Harake Appellants' violation of a mandatory discovery obligation. Violation of mandatory discovery obligations provides the necessary foundation for imposing sanctions, and prejudice is "presumed" when mandatory duties are violated.

VII. The analytical framework and path forward.

Regarding the ultimate resolution of this appeal, Gibbs respectfully submits that the Court's analysis should be simple. The circuit court correctly dismissed the Harake Appellants' Fourth Counterclaim for "tortious interference with economic interest" on the ground that the claim has not been recognized under South Carolina law, as repeatedly admitted by the Harake Appellants. Since the unrecognized Fourth Counterclaim should have been dismissed, the next step is to determine whether the circuit court properly denied the Harake Appellants' request for leave to

amend their pleading. In considering whether the circuit court properly denied the Harake Appellants' request to amend their pleading, the Court should consider the undue delay in the Harake Appellants' decision to assert a new counterclaim, the prejudice created by such a late amendment, and the futility of asserting the new claim. The Harake Appellants' delayed assertion of their new purported claim causes extraordinary prejudice to Gibbs, and the assertion of this new claim is futile. Accordingly, the Court should affirm the circuit court's decision to deny the Harake Appellants' leave to file an amended pleading to assert a new counterclaim.

This process begs the question: how is a defendant to respond to a claim that has not been recognized under South Carolina law? If a party alleges a claim that has not been recognized, and courts are instructed to permit such claims to proceed under different legal theories, then is a defendant required to move to dismiss all possible claims that the claimant failed to allege properly, yet never mentioned in their pleading? The law should not require Gibbs to guess about the Harake Appellants' unstated intentions regarding their pleading. Neither should Gibbs be required to have moved to dismiss an unpled claim for intentional interference with contractual relations when the Harake Appellants unequivocally did not allege such a claim.

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