THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Feb 26 2026

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

Brian M. Gibbons, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2017-CP-42-00740

Appellate Case No. 2025-000682

Gibbs International, Inc.,Petitioner,

v.

Sarmad Harake, Eurosa, Inc., and Katherine Harake,Defendants,

Of whom Sarmad Harake and Eurosa Inc. are the..... Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS SARMAD HARAKE AND EUROSA, INC.

John T. Lay, SC BAR NO. 64526
Curtis L. Ott, SC BAR NO. 66145
Lindsay A. Joyner, SC BAR NO. 77437
Gallivan, White & Boyd, P.A.
1201 Main Street, Suite 1200
Post Office Box 7368
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

Respondents' fourth counterclaim pleads facts to meet each element of a claim for tortious interference with contractual relations, and taking those facts in the light most favorable to Respondents, as any court must do at the Rule 12(b)(6) stage, the fourth counterclaim was sufficiently pled. *Gentry*, 337 S.C. 1, 522 S.E.2d 137.

However, for the first time in the Reply to its Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Petitioner argues that Respondents' fourth counterclaim is not sufficient because the Paysend Processing contract cannot provide the basis for the claim of tortious interference with contract. This argument is unavailing for two reasons. First, it is not preserved and should not be considered as it was not raised to or ruled upon by the Circuit Court. *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) ("It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal."); *see also Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011) ("At a minimum, issue preservation requires that an issue be raised to and ruled upon by the [circuit court]."). Second, the Paysend Processing contract is not the contract that Respondents argue was interfered with by Petitioner as such would create a different cause of action. Rather, as argued herein, the contract that was interfered with by Petitioner was Respondents' agreement for Paysend UK with a third party of which Petitioner was aware. (App. pp. 512-513, 518-519, Ans. and Am.

Counterclaims, ¶¶ 153, 155, 192, 195-198, 195; App. p. 534, Reply, ¶ 70). Further, Petitioner argues that the cause of action is not sufficient because incorporating other allegations by reference is insufficient and because the issues as to Paysend UK were not addressed in Harake’s original counterclaims. There is no rule that says in answering an amended complaint and re-asserting counterclaims that *only* those counterclaims previously pled may be pled again, and pleaders routinely use facts they pleaded in a “facts” section to support the causes of action they are pleading without restating each fact. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals’ decision should be affirmed.

2. The Court of Appeals’ decision is consistent with prior rulings of this Court.

In its Brief, Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals’ opinion conflicts with prior decisions of this Court because the label on the fourth counterclaim was for a cause of action that has not been formally recognized in South Carolina; however, that is simply untrue. As is consistent with South Carolina case law, the label on Respondents’ fourth counterclaim is not dispositive³ of

³ The law is well-settled that the label assigned to a cause of action is not dispositive as to whether it has been pled sufficiently. *See Prior v. S.C. Med. Malpractice Liabl. Ins. Joint Underwriting Ass’n*, 305 S.C. 247, 249, 407 S.E.2d 655, 657 (Ct. App. 1991) (providing that the court must look beyond the labels of a cause of action to the actions themselves when examining a Complaint); *United Educational Distributors, LLC v. Educational Testing Svc.*, 350 S.C. 7, 10 at n.1, 564 S.E.2d 324, 326 at n.1 (Ct. App. 2002) (affirming dismissal of the cause of action, not because of how the cause of action was labeled but rather noting that while trial court in that case had identified the action as “tortious interference with prospective economic advantage,” the “substance of [its] analysis” in determining whether the claim was sufficiently pled was not affected by how the cause of action was titled). Rule 8(f) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure echoes this principle by providing “[a]ll pleadings shall be so construed as to do substantial justice to all parties.” Further, in *Wellin v. Wellin*, 135 F.Supp.3d. 502 (D.S.C. 2015), a motion to dismiss multiple causes of action argued such causes of action had not been formally recognized in South Carolina. However, the district court “attempt[ed] to do as the state court would do if confronted with the same fact pattern.” *Id.* at 511. In permitting the titled cause of action “intentional interference with prospective contractual advantage/prospective economic advantage” to go forward, the district court found that “South Carolina courts have noted that labeling the cause of action as interference with prospective economic advantage does not change the substance of the cause of action.” *Id.* at 519, n. 15.

whether a claim can pass a challenge pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, nor is it grounds for automatic dismissal if a cause of action is pled that has not been formally recognized. Although Petitioner argues that automatic dismissal is automatic if a party pleads a cause of action that has not been formally recognized, Petitioner fails to cite any case law standing for such a proposition.⁴

Petitioner points to the case of *Doe v. Greenville Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, 375 S.C. 63, 68, 651 S.E.2d 305, 307 (2007) as evidence that this Court has ruled that a counterclaim that is not recognized should not be permitted to survive a motion to dismiss. There is no conflict with that case and other case law in South Carolina permitting causes of action that have not been previously recognized, though, as it does not stand for the proposition that a claim that has not been formally recognized in South Carolina must be dismissed without further review. Rather, in *Greenville Cnty. Sch. Dist.*, the Court reviewed the facts alleged in the complaint as they related to each of the dismissed claims and distinguished why they did not fit other causes of action. *Id.* at 68-70, 651 S.E.2d at 307-09. That posture does not create a conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in the instant matter and *Doe v. Greenville Cnty. Sch. Dist.*; it is simply the application of the respective facts as pled to potential claims for relief.

This Court has held that pleadings in a case should be construed liberally so that substantial justice is done between the parties. *Manning v. Dial*, 271 S.C. 79, 84, 245 S.E.2d 120, 123 (1978). Therefore, in determining whether a cause of action should be dismissed, the “question for the court is whether in the light most favorable to the [complainant], and with every doubt resolved in his behalf, the allegations set forth on the face of the complaint state ***any valid claim for relief.***”

⁴ Notably, in *Mallory v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 561, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014), this Court refused to adopt or reject the tort of Intentional Interference with Inheritance under the facts of that case as presented, holding instead that the appellant failed to preserve the issue on appeal and emphasizing that the opinion was not to be understood as adopting or rejecting the tort. At no point did the Court say that because the cause of action has not yet been recognized in South Carolina that it should be dismissed automatically.

Sloan Const. Co., 377 S.C. 108, 112–13, 659 S.E.2d 158, 161 (2008), *holding modified on other grounds by Shirley's Iron Works, Inc.*, 403 S.C. 560, 743 S.E.2d 778 (2013) (emphasis added); *see also Fabian*, 410 S.C. 475, 765 S.E.2d 132 (2014) (reversing dismissal pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) and permitting a third-party beneficiary of an existing estate plan to sue the drafting lawyer of that estate plan in tort and in contract for drafting errors); *Moriarty*, 341 S.C. 320, 327, 534 S.E.2d 672, 675 (holding that an appellate court does not have to provide any particular deference to a lower court when deciding whether to recognize a cause of action, among other things), *holding modified on other grounds by State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004) (citations omitted). Moreover, when the Court of Appeals affirmed a dismissal because South Carolina had not recognized a cause of action for intentional interference with inheritance, this Court instead found such a ruling was unnecessary if there were other reasons to dismiss the particular pleading. *Douglas ex rel. Louthian v. Boyce*, 344 S.C. 5, 9-10, 542 S.E.2d 715, 717 (2001) (affirming the dismissal because there was no duty owed by the tort attorneys to the child); *see also Mallory v. Thompson*, 409 S.C. 557, 561, 762 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2014) (refusing to adopt or reject the tort of Intentional Interference with Inheritance under the facts of that case as presented, holding instead that the appellant failed to preserve the issue on appeal, and emphasizing that the opinion was not to be understood as adopting or rejecting the tort). At no point in these cases did the Court hold that because the cause of action has not yet been recognized in South Carolina that it should be dismissed automatically. Accordingly, as Petitioner has not identified a prior decision of this Court standing for the proposition that only causes of action labeled and formally recognized by the courts may be pursued past the motion to dismiss stage of litigation, there is neither a conflict between the Court of Appeals' decision in this matter and a prior decision of this Court nor should the Court of Appeals' decision be overturned for such a reason.

3. The Court of Appeals did not “reinvent” or “re-draft” Respondents’ fourth counterclaim.

Following the standard of review for a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, motion and determining that Respondents pled facts sufficient to state a claim for relief is not reinventing or rewriting Respondents’ fourth counterclaim. The Court of Appeals’ decision should be upheld, and Respondents should be able to proceed with their fourth amended counterclaim.

Petitioner argues that two unpublished federal cases, a United States Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals case, and *Spence*, 368 S.C. 106, 116, 628 S.E.2d 869, 874, stand for the proposition that an appellate court cannot rewrite a complaint, which it contends the Court of Appeals did in this case. Those cases are inapposite and have no applicability here. Specifically, in *Spence*, the Court affirmed the dismissal from the circuit court because when given the opportunity to present a different theory of recovery or additional factual allegations, the pleader did not do so but instead presented the same allegations and theory of relief. *Id.* at 131, 628 S.E.2d at 882. That is simply not the procedural posture of this case or the actions taken by the Court of Appeals in reversing the dismissal of Respondents’ fourth counterclaim. Likewise, *Martin v. Duffy*, *Peterson v. Burgess*, and *Beaudett v. City of Hampton*, are *pro se* prisoner cases that had vaguely identified potential legal issues, including some that were duplicative of prior cases by the same litigant. *Beaudett v. City of Hampton*, 775 F.2d 1274, 1276 (4th Cir. 1985); *Martin v. Duffy*, No. CV 4:18-317-DCN-TER, 2018 WL 11462188, at *1 (D.S.C. Feb. 14, 2018), *report and recommendation adopted*, No. 4:18-CV-0317 DCN, 2018 WL 11462186 (D.S.C. Mar. 12, 2018), *aff’d*, 732 F. App’x 197 (4th Cir. 2018); *Peterson v. Burgess*, No. CIV.A. 7:14-141-TMC, 2015 WL 4644465, at *3 (D.S.C. Aug. 4, 2015). There is nothing about these cases that changes the standard of review for appellate courts in South Carolina pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCP, which was properly applied by the Court of Appeals. As explained in Section A.1., *supra*, Respondents pleaded the elements of a

cause of action for tortious interference with contractual relations.

4. South Carolina case law does not require that specific words have to be used to plead a cause of action.

There is no case in South Carolina of which Respondents are aware that requires specific words to be used to allege an element in a claim; therefore, Petitioner's argument that failure to use the word "intentional" is fatal to Respondents' fourth counterclaim and makes the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with the settled case law of this State is unsupported.

Rather, the settled law in South Carolina is that a court, taking all facts in the light most favorable to the pleader, may reasonably make inferences from the words used to determine whether any cause of action has been pled for purposes of a Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, motion. The case of *Shirley's Iron Works*, 403 S.C. 560, 743 S.E.2d 778, is instructive here. In that case, this Court did not solely look at the title of the cause of action or for exact words in determining whether the amended complaint pled a third-party beneficiary contract claim. Rather, it looked to the "Facts" section and disregarded the fact that certain words like "contract" or "tort" or "negligence" did not appear in the cause of action. *Id.* at 574, 743 S.E.2d at 785. Instead, this Court found "a fair reading of the Amended Complaint leads to the reasonable conclusion that the first cause of action is one for breach of contract," and it further pointed to its statutory construction ruling in the same case, which as a matter of first impression, held the only claim possible under the particular statute was a contract claim. *Id.*

The Court of Appeals specifically considered the facts pled in Respondents' fourth counterclaim, agreeing the words used satisfied the elements of a claim for tortious interference with contractual relations. (App. pp. 7-8; *see also* App. pp. 512-513, 518-520, Ans. and Am. Counterclaims, ¶¶ 153, 155, 192-204; App. p. 534, Reply, ¶ 70). As previously provided above, such allegations included: (1) that Gibbs, Eurosa, and another investor in Paysend Processing had

an agreement related to the capital investments needed for Paysend Processing and for the overall plan for growth of that company, and part of that agreement required Gibbs to invest \$1 million. (App. pp. 518-519, Ans. and Am. Counterclaims, ¶¶ 192, 195, and 196); (2) Gibbs was also aware of agreement between Harake and the third party related to Paysend UK, and Gibbs refused to allow the investment in Paysend Processing to be transferred to Paysend UK. (App. p. 512-513, 519, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 153, 155, 195-198); and (3) Gibbs unjustifiably refused to be bought out or to roll Paysend Processing into Paysend UK. (App. p. 520, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶ 202). The first two elements of tortious interference with contractual relations (existence and knowledge of a contract) were pleaded when Respondents alleged Gibbs was aware that it was supposed to invest \$1 million as part of a contract and that there were other agreements between Respondents and the third party related to Paysend UK. *Gecy*, 422 S.C. at 520, 812 S.E.2d at 756. Respondents also alleged Gibbs refused without justification to meet its obligation under the agreement, acted deliberately to discourage other investment, unjustifiably refused to roll Paysend Processing into Paysend UK, and refused to be bought out from the agreement in an effort to salvage the company, satisfying the element of deliberately or intentionally causing a breach. (App. pp. 518-519, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 193, 194, 197, and 198). And finally, Respondents alleged the damages that resulted from Gibbs' actions. (App. pp. 519-520, Answer and Amended Counterclaims, ¶¶ 199-204). Thus, Respondents alleged facts that were sufficient to plead each element of a cause of action for tortious interference with contract, and the Court of Appeals' decision should be upheld.

B. The Court of Appeals Properly Concluded The Circuit Court Could Not Strike Respondents' Fourth Counterclaim Pursuant To Rule 12(f) Or Rule 37, SCRPC.

It was an error for the Circuit Court to premise its dismissal of Respondents' fourth counterclaim on an alleged failure to file a motion for protective order following counsel's

instruction for Harake not to answer a question regarding protected information during his deposition. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals' decision should be upheld.

Petitioner has not cited any authority for the proposition that failing to file a motion for protective order is a valid reason to strike a counterclaim for insufficiency in pleading or to strike a counterclaim as a sanction. Respondents likewise have neither identified any support for this theory in South Carolina law nor located a South Carolina case in which a counterclaim was stricken when a motion for protective order was not filed after an instruction not to answer. Rather, Rule 30(j)(3), SCRCPP, provides that the remedy for not filing a motion for protective order is that "the deposition may be reconvened" to ask the question previously objected to as the objection would have been waived. No such request was made to reopen Respondent Sarmad Harake's deposition after Petitioner provided its so-called notice that such a motion should be filed.⁵ Therefore, there was no discovery violation.

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